
44th PARLIAMENT, 1st SESSION

Standing Committee on National
Defence

EVIDENCE

NUMBER 037
Tuesday, November 1, 2022

Chair: The Honourable John McKay





1

Standing Committee on National Defence
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● (1100)

[English]
The Chair (Hon. John McKay (Scarborough—Guildwood,

Lib.)): We'll open the 37th meeting of the defence committee.

We welcome some familiar faces to the committee.

Welcome to the committee, General Pelletier, General Huddle‐
ston and Mr. Quinn. All of you are experienced members before
this committee. With that, I'm going to ask General Pelletier for his
five-minute opening statement, and then we'll go to our rounds of
questions.

General Pelletier, please go ahead.
Lieutenant-General Alain Pelletier (Deputy Commander,

North American Aerospace Defense Command, Department of
National Defence): Good morning, Mr. Chair and members of the
committee.

Thank you for the opportunity to speak with you today. My name
is Lieutenant-General Alain Pelletier. I'm the deputy commander of
the North American Aerospace Defense Command, known as NO‐
RAD, and we are headquartered at Peterson Space Force Base in
Colorado Springs, Colorado.
[Translation]

Joining me today are Major-General Iain Huddleston, comman‐
der of 1 Canadian Air Division and of the Canadian NORAD Re‐
gion, and Jonathan Quinn, director general, continental defence
policy, Department of National Defence.
[English]

As deputy commander of NORAD, I am the second in command
and support the commander of NORAD, U.S. General VanHerck,
in the execution of our missions, responsibilities and functions out‐
lined in the NORAD agreement and the NORAD terms of refer‐
ence.
[Translation]

Formalized in 1958, the NORAD agreement established three
primary missions for NORAD in North America: aerospace warn‐
ing, aerospace control and maritime warning.
[English]

In the context of NORAD's mission, “North America” means
Alaska, Canada, the continental United States, Puerto Rico and the
U.S. Virgin Islands, including air defence identification zones, the
air approaches, the maritime areas and the maritime approaches.

It is also worth mentioning that NORAD also delivers integrated
threat warning and attack assessment for missiles, a mission that
spans the entire globe.

The commander of NORAD, or I as the deputy commander in
his absence, is responsible to the Government of Canada and to the
Government of the United States of America for the execution of
our mission.

Subordinate NORAD organizations include the Canadian NO‐
RAD region, known as CANR, the continental U.S. NORAD re‐
gion, known as CONR, and the Alaska NORAD region, known as
ANR, all led by their respective region commanders with embed‐
ded U.S. and Canadian Forces members alike.

NORAD has a history of evolution that has ensured the com‐
mand is positioned to effectively respond to changes in the security
environment and technological advances. Over its history, the threat
to North America has evolved from a northern approach long-range
aviation to now a 360-degree threat, and from all domains.
[Translation]

For the first time in our collective history of binational defence,
we now have two strategic competitors, Russia and China, both
with nuclear weapons, and a third actor in North Korea.

With ongoing climate change, Russia, China and other states are
increasingly interested in the Arctic. As time goes on, the Arctic is
becoming an interconnected and increasingly globalized region, as
well as a source of contention.
● (1105)

[English]

From a NORAD perspective, the concern is that the Arctic is the
closest path to attack North America. Our adversaries have already
modernized their Arctic infrastructure, deployed new coastal and
maritime defence missile systems, upgraded their maritime forces
and increased military exercise and training operations, with new
command organizations dedicated to the Arctic.

To effectively execute our assigned NORAD mission, we must
outpace our global competitors, deter our adversaries, deny and de‐
feat threats through all-domain awareness, information dominance
and decision superiority, and be globally integrated with our allies.
[Translation]

In June, the Minister of National Defence announced funding for
Canada’s continental defence capabilities, namely for the modern‐
ization of NORAD.
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[English]

NORAD modernization will contribute to the defence of North
America and help address evolving missile threats and maritime
warning challenges, consistent with the NORAD agreement, help‐
ing to ensure our continent is a secure base to project power and be
engaged abroad.
[Translation]

NORAD headquarters is working closely with National Defence
headquarters and the Pentagon to synchronize and coordinate NO‐
RAD modernization from a project/acquisition perspective.
[English]

As threats continue to rapidly evolve and the Arctic becomes in‐
creasingly accessible, it is important for both countries to field criti‐
cal capabilities, as soon as possible, that will enhance our domain
awareness, enable persistent operations and provide national deci‐
sion-makers adequate time to make key decisions.
[Translation]

Thank you, Mr. Chair, for the opportunity to address this com‐
mittee.

We look forward to your questions.
[English]

The Chair: Thank you, General Pelletier.

With that, we'll commence our six-minute round.

Mrs. Gallant, you have six minutes, please.
Mrs. Cheryl Gallant (Renfrew—Nipissing—Pembroke,

CPC): Thank you.

To the generals, since February 2022, what number of times has
NORAD had to scramble jets due to Russian or Chinese incursions
in the Arctic?

LGen Alain Pelletier: We don't talk about a specific number of
activities, given the fact that some of them are reactions or actions
against.... The activities vary, but I can say that the number has in‐
creased. In 2022, we've seen one of the largest numbers since the
reduction in Russian activities in the north. That's probably since
2014, as I mentioned.

Mrs. Cheryl Gallant: The U.S. does report on their incursions.
You're saying the tempo has increased, then.

Do countries check in with Canada, the U.S. or NORAD in ad‐
vance of their intention to be in Canadian Arctic waters, be it air or
below the water surface?

LGen Alain Pelletier: The country would not report their activi‐
ties if they're intending to actually operate in the Arctic, either be‐
low the surface or above the surface. Quite often we depend on our
threat warning and attack assessments, our detection systems and
capabilities in the air and the maritime environment, to be able to
actually detect any encroachment of our air defence identification
zone or below the water surface.

Mrs. Cheryl Gallant: Does that include traversing through the
Northwest Passage?

LGen Alain Pelletier: I'm not an expert with regard to the
Northwest Passage. I believe that countries are expected to actually
report transiting through the Northwest Passage proper, but that's a
system I'm not familiar with.

Maybe Mr. Quinn would be able to answer that.
Mr. Jonathan Quinn (Director General, Continental Defence

Policy, Department of National Defence): Just very quickly, if the
question is specific to underwater incursions, then I would say no.
The idea there is specifically for stealth. We wouldn't necessarily
expect to receive a request if it's coming from a non-allied country
or competitor.

Thank you.
● (1110)

Mrs. Cheryl Gallant: Thank you.

Have foreign drones been detected in the air or subsurface waters
in the Canadian Arctic?

LGen Alain Pelletier: Major-General Huddleston, would you
like to answer the question for the Canadian NORAD region?

Major-General Iain Huddleston (Commander, Canadian
NORAD Region, Canadian Armed Forces, Department of Na‐
tional Defence): Certainly, sir.

To my understanding, no foreign drones have been detected in
the Arctic airspace. We haven't detected any undersurface drones,
either. I believe that was the second part of the question.

Mrs. Cheryl Gallant: In the absence of hangarage in Inuvik,
Canada's air-to-air refuelling response is non-existent. If the U.S.
air-to-air refuellers are needed to refuel U.S. aircraft, to what extent
will Canada be able to add to the response equation?

LGen Alain Pelletier: First of all, we do have a limited air-to-air
refuelling capability that we've employed over the years. Canada
and the Royal Canadian Air Force have been providing both our
tactical tankers, the C-130H tanker as well as the Airbus, which has
a multi-role platform as well, to support our operations on a non-
persistent basis. For the regular response, we actually rely on
tankers provided by the U.S. Air Force.

However, I can tell you that, as part of the NORAD moderniza‐
tion package approved in June of this year, there will be an en‐
hancement to the strategic air-to-air refuelling capabilities of the
Royal Canadian Air Force that will enable greater participation and
support of our activity. It's going to increase not only our response
posture but also our reach in the very wide area of the Canadian
Arctic.

Mrs. Cheryl Gallant: When do you anticipate our North Warn‐
ing System will be adequate to detect threats we see emanating
from Russia, China, or North Korea?

LGen Alain Pelletier: First of all, the North Warning System, as
is, is very limited in its ability to actually detect the current threat
represented by Russia right now, and China in the future—especial‐
ly given that the threat from China may be coming from the west
coast, and the North Warning System is geared towards a threat
coming from the Arctic, which is what it was designed for back in
the early 1980s.
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We're talking about modernization of the layered sensor systems,
and that includes the arrival of over-the-horizon radar, which are
not going to be co-located with the current North Warning System,
but will be optimized in order to actually provide North America,
i.e., Canada and the U.S. specifically, with a long-range detection
of air and space threats. That is expected to be available in the later
part of this decade.

The Chair: Thank you.
[Translation]

Go ahead, Mr. Robillard. You have six minutes.
Mr. Yves Robillard (Marc-Aurèle-Fortin, Lib.): Thank you,

Mr. Chair.

How will the recently announced investments in NORAD im‐
prove the Canadian Armed Forces' operating capability in the
north?

As well, can you tell us more about the types of infrastructure in‐
vestments that are planned, including for forward operating loca‐
tions?

LGen Alain Pelletier: Thank you for your question.

I'm going to ask Mr. Quinn to answer first, and then I'll take over.
Mr. Jonathan Quinn: I'd like to thank the honourable member

for his question.
[English]

As the member indicated, infrastructure investments will be a big
part of the NORAD modernization effort. The intention is to up‐
grade northern Canadian Armed Forces installations in Yel‐
lowknife, Inuvik, Iqaluit, and Goose Bay by modernizing the in‐
frastructure to accommodate the arrival of the future fighter aircraft
and also different types of aircraft to expand the types of operations
that can be conducted out of those important locations.

As well, further south the NORAD modernization plan also in‐
cludes new investments to enhance fighter aircraft infrastructure
across the country, and also quick reaction and alert infrastructure
and fighter training infrastructure as well. Lots of investments are
funded and under way, but it will be a long-term, multi-year effort
to get all of those infrastructure investments implemented and im‐
provements on the ground.

Thank you.
● (1115)

[Translation]
LGen Alain Pelletier: I'd like to add to what Mr. Quinn said, if I

may.

Once the over-the-horizon radar mentioned earlier is in place, it
will provide defence in depth for the Arctic area, namely thanks to
the approaches at 1000 hours and 1400 hours, that is, towards Alas‐
ka and Greenland. This will provide a better understanding of what
enters our area of interest.

Enhancements will also be made to the command, control and
communications system to make our operations more resilient, so

we can not just operate aircraft but also retrieve the information
they can pick up.

Mr. Yves Robillard: Tens of billions of dollars have been allo‐
cated to NORAD modernization, including major infrastructure in‐
vestments in the north. How, then, will the government work with
northern and indigenous communities to make sure they benefit
from those investments and have an adequate role in the decision-
making process?

Mr. Jonathan Quinn: Thank you for your question.

I'll start, and then, Lieutenant-General Pelletier may have some‐
thing to add.

[English]

We have conducted some initial consultations with indigenous
and northern communities to get a better handle on community
needs and to identify areas where National Defence investments
can assist and provide dual-use benefits for those communities.

I mentioned some of the specific infrastructure projects. As those
projects move into the implementation phase and we start doing site
assessments and that sort of thing, we'll continue those consulta‐
tions and move into much more in-depth targeted interactions with
local communities, again, to maximize opportunities for our mutual
benefit. As we all know, northern communities have many of the
same challenges that the Canadian Armed Forces have in operating
and existing in those high latitudes. There are certainly lots of op‐
portunities from an infrastructure perspective, technology perspec‐
tive and so on.

I would mention as well that as we look at fielding capability,
much in the same way as with the recently signed contract for the
sustaining maintenance of the current North Warning System, there
will be lots of opportunities for indigenous companies and commu‐
nities to benefit economically as well. That maintenance contract
was given to an Inuit-owned organization, and certainly we envi‐
sion more opportunities along those lines as we move forward with
the NORAD modernization plan.

I'm not sure if General Pelletier may have something more to
add.

Thank you.

[Translation]
LGen Alain Pelletier: I have just two things to add to what

Mr. Quinn said.

Clearly, consultations are important in the process to modernize
NORAD. We need to make sure that our current and future activi‐
ties support each of those communities in a complementary way.
That's something that's important to us, because as the work ad‐
vances and since the facilities will more than likely be used on a
more frequent basis, we want to make sure we don't infringe on the
resources local communities need to survive the severe Arctic win‐
ters.

I should also mention that that isn't unique to the Canadian NO‐
RAD region. Alaska, which has its own nations—
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● (1120)

[English]
The Chair: We're going to have to leave it there.

The interpreters are having extreme difficulties with your sys‐
tem, General Pelletier. I know generals hate to delegate, but insofar
as you are able, could you delegate to General Huddleston or Mr.
Quinn, and then I will not receive the wrathful interpretation on the
other line? It's unfortunate, but the interpreters are having difficul‐
ties.

Next up we have Madame Normandin for six minutes.
[Translation]

Ms. Christine Normandin (Saint-Jean, BQ): Thank you, gen‐
tlemen, for being here. We always appreciate it.

My first question doesn't have to do with operations, but I'm go‐
ing to try my luck. If you don't know the answer, just say so.

For comparison purposes, do you have an idea of Canada's finan‐
cial and infrastructure contribution as a share of GDP in relation to
the U.S.'s?
[English]

LGen Alain Pelletier: Can you answer?
[Translation]

Mr. Jonathan Quinn: Thank you to the honourable member for
her question.

Unfortunately, I don't have those figures right now.
[English]

We can perhaps take that question on notice, if that works for the
member.
[Translation]

Ms. Christine Normandin: Yes, please. I would appreciate that.

My next question is the same one I asked the Canadian Armed
Forces' leadership two weeks ago. If a missile were heading for
Canadian territory, in the very near future, would the U.S. have to
intercept and destroy the missile?

I don't mean a response under article 5 of the Washington treaty
after the fact.

LGen Alain Pelletier: The U.S. does not have to intercept and
destroy the missile because Canada chose not to sign the anti‑ballis‐
tic missile treaty—
[English]

The Chair: I apologize, General Pelletier, but the interpreters
have just informed us that the sound that is coming is not intelligi‐
ble to them. I'm not quite sure how you're going to continue to par‐
ticipate if in fact the sound is not intelligible.

Is either of the other two witnesses able to answer the question?
[Translation]

MGen Iain Huddleston: I can try, Mr. Chair, but it's really a
question for Lieutenant-General Pelletier.

As he mentioned, the U.S. does not have to defend Canada in
that way. Nevertheless, we always work together on surveillance
and detection for attacks of that nature, and, jointly, we do our best
to defend against such attacks.

Ms. Christine Normandin: Thank you.

It's very appreciated.

[English]

The Chair: Excuse me, Madame Normandin. I have stopped the
clock, by the way.

General Pelletier is an extremely important witness to us, and it
is just a darn shame that we're losing him for this meeting. I wonder
whether there's a workaround.

Is there a possibility that you could dial in on a cellphone and we
could hear you that way? Before I suggest that, I just want to make
sure that it's doable. Is it doable?

[Translation]

Ms. Christine Normandin: My understanding, Mr. Chair, is that
it's a health risk for the interpreters. In fact, there was an incident
recently in the Senate: an interpreter had to be taken away in an
ambulance because someone wasn't wearing an appropriate head‐
set.

[English]

The Chair: If he came in on a cellphone as opposed to—

The Clerk of the Committee (Mr. Andrew Wilson): It's worse.

The Chair: Is it not going to work?

The Clerk: A wired connection is the only way. If he has an Eth‐
ernet cable, that's the only solution.

The Chair: Okay.

I'm sorry about this, General Pelletier. It is what it is.

I will continue on with our time.

You have about three minutes, Madame Normandin.

● (1125)

[Translation]

Ms. Christine Normandin: Thank you very much.

Tell us, if you would, about expanding NORAD's coverage. Cur‐
rently, NORAD provides aerospace warning, aerospace control and
maritime warning.

Some experts say that NORAD should expand its reach to in‐
clude land and cyberspace coverage. Should those environments be
part of NORAD's mandate, or should they be overseen by other au‐
thorities?

Mr. Jonathan Quinn: Thank you for your question.
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[English]

It is a very good question. It was in fact one of the first questions
that we tackled in collaboration with the U.S. as we got the NO‐
RAD modernization effort up and running—that is, how to define
exactly what we meant by NORAD modernization. Based on mutu‐
al agreement between Canada and the U.S., we agreed that there
was sufficient work to do to enhance NORAD's capabilities to ful‐
fill its current mandate of aerospace warning and control and mar‐
itime warning, and not to even look at expanding the mandate of
NORAD at this time. We finished this round of NORAD modern‐
ization, and in fact no commitment was made to look at it in the fu‐
ture.

I would just add that there are other mechanisms of bilateral col‐
laboration between Canada and the U.S. We have what's called the
“tri command” arrangement between the Canadian joint operations
command, NORAD, and the U.S. where there's a venue to collabo‐
rate on land operations, and also through other mechanisms on cy‐
ber-defence as well. Above and beyond NORAD, there are lots of
opportunities for collaboration.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

[Translation]
Ms. Christine Normandin: Thank you.

Originally, NORAD's mission focused on surveillance of long-
range aircraft. Now we live in a world of hypersonic missiles and
the response time is limited to a few minutes.

Do you think things will evolve to a point where efforts to detect
and destroy hypersonic missiles will be futile because the necessary
response time will be so minimal? Is that something to be con‐
cerned about in the future? Will we have to change our strategy
completely in response to outside threats?

[English]
MGen Iain Huddleston: I can potentially replace General Pel‐

letier on this question, Mr. Chair.

Our focus is on integrated deterrence. General VanHerck has de‐
scribed that as getting left of launch. So before the competitor
chooses to fire a modern hypersonic missile at Canada, or at North
America, we will have proven or demonstrated to them that the cost
of doing so will be too high. The way we can achieve that is by im‐
proving our domain awareness, information dominance and deci‐
sion superiority, and also engaging our other government depart‐
ments, those here in Canada and in the U.S., to show a united front
in terms of integrated deterrence.

You're correct that hypersonic missiles provide us with a signifi‐
cant challenge, but many of the capabilities that we're investing in
with NORAD modernization will work away at that problem, and
we're dedicated to doing so.

The Chair: We're going to have to leave it there, Madame Nor‐
mandin.

It's been suggested to me, General Pelletier, that if you turn your
camera off we might get a better reception. It's not that we don't
want to see you, but whatever works works.

We now have Ms. Mathyssen for six minutes, and hopefully it
will work.

Ms. Lindsay Mathyssen (London—Fanshawe, NDP): Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

The witnesses mentioned before—and I believe it was General
Pelletier, so we'll see how this goes—in response to a question on
infrastructure and the investments in the north, that there's a bit of
concern—and I understand the difficulty in terms of Defence com‐
ing in and needing to put in what they need—that the needs of peo‐
ple on the ground will be an afterthought. We heard last week testi‐
mony from Dr. Lackenbauer talking about smart defence invest‐
ments and expanding on that in terms of how we've done things in
the past and doing things very differently.

Could you expand on those ideas, on how we're specifically deal‐
ing with the lack of infrastructure in terms of roads, the Internet, ac‐
cess to clean drinking water and housing, and how we're ensuring
that we're doing things differently so that it's not so top-down?
● (1130)

LGen Alain Pelletier: I'm not sure if you can hear me better.
[Translation]

I'm not sure whether the interpreters can hear me clearly.
[English]

I will let Mr. Quinn answer the first part, and then I'll add what's
specific to NORAD reform.

Mr. Jonathan Quinn: Some of the challenges the member just
outlined—in terms of the Internet, clean drinking water, and hous‐
ing—obviously go well above and beyond the defence mandate.
There's lots of very good work going on in other government de‐
partments to get at those challenges. At the same time, we recog‐
nize that this is going to be a big investment and that there certainly
will be opportunities to look for dual-use benefits across the board.
We work very closely on a number of files with Dr. Lackenbauer,
and I know he has lots of great ideas on this front as well.

I would say that at this point, as we're shifting into implementa‐
tion for these kinds of defined, at least by location, infrastructure
enhancements, we will be working very closely with northern com‐
munities again to assess their needs, let them know what our needs
are, and specifically identify where those align and where we can
maximize mutual benefit for these initiatives.

I would also add that the investments outlined in the NORAD
modernization effort have been very specifically focused on
aerospace threats to the continent, in keeping with NORAD's man‐
date. In budget 2022, the government also announced a plan to re‐
view our current policy. That will be an opportunity to look more
broadly, beyond just the aerospace warning and control and mar‐
itime warning mission of NORAD, to other threats and opportuni‐
ties that come in the Arctic, and make recommendations to govern‐
ment on potentially looking at other investments in the north where
there would be additional benefits potentially for northern and ur‐
ban communities.

The Chair: I'm told that General Pelletier's sound has somewhat
improved. Maybe we'll carry on the last 20 minutes with some par‐
ticipation on the part of General Pelletier.
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Ms. Mathyssen, go ahead.
Ms. Lindsay Mathyssen: I believe General Pelletier was going

to respond after. I'm glad to know that his sound is all right.
LGen Alain Pelletier: Mr. Chair, I truly apologize for the cur‐

rent state of the technology.

All I'm going to add to what Mr. Quinn said is that at NORAD,
in a number of symposiums, we have looked at how we're going to
do business better in the future, in terms of not only the use of in‐
frastructure, but also the use of other technology in the north. We're
very focused on how we're going to get after such capability, and
we're working to actually get after multi-use capability, so that
whether it's a hangar or the elongation or improvement of runways,
it's going to benefit not only the military community but hopefully
the local communities as well.

The Chair: You have one minute.
Ms. Lindsay Mathyssen: In the same meeting last week, Dr.

Byers focused a great deal on the RADARSAT improvement.
Could we receive an update on where that is in terms of his focus
on that?
● (1135)

Mr. Jonathan Quinn: I think I'll start. I'm not sure if General
Pelletier or General Huddleston will have anything to add.

If I understand the question correctly, part of the NORAD mod‐
ernization plan is to enhance the amount of funding that has been
allocated for the replacement system for the RADARSAT Constel‐
lation Mission, which was actually just launched fairly recently.
This is an effort to look ahead and make sure that we're doing ev‐
erything we can to minimize gaps in capability for the Canadian
Armed Forces to start thinking about and planning out those re‐
placement capabilities for when the RADARSAT Constellation
Mission reaches the end of its useful life.

For the replacement, we're looking to do something a little bit
different, which is for the successor to the RADARSAT Constella‐
tion Mission, a government-owned capability for which the Depart‐
ment of National Defence and the Canadian Armed Forces are prin‐
cipal clients or beneficiaries. The replacement would be a DND/
CAF-owned asset, and this is to make up for the increased demand
that we have for earth-based observation, not only for the Arctic but
also for other missions around the world, and also to account for se‐
curity requirements as well and the necessity for DND/CAF to have
the ability to share information at higher classification levels than is
necessary for other government departments.

Thanks, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: We're going to have to leave Ms. Mathyssen's ques‐

tion there.

Colleagues, we have 20 minutes left and 25 minutes' worth of
questions. The math doesn't work, so I will take a minute off every‐
body.

With that, we go to Ms. Kramp-Neuman.
Mrs. Shelby Kramp-Neuman (Hastings—Lennox and

Addington, CPC): Good morning. Thank you, Mr. Chair, and
thank you, gentlemen, for being here today.

There's a concern that a personnel crisis is contributing to our in‐
ability to ensure our national security. That's the paramount issue
here. Second, a recruitment crisis is clearly causing chaos. Some‐
thing has to give, and we need to have a plan. Retired general Rick
Hillier has publicly stated that he has been given information that
the personnel crisis is as critical as a 50% shortage. I realize opera‐
tional security precludes you from commenting on just how bad
things are in the military, but I think it's really important for us to
understand what aspects of the CAF training must be scaled back
due to the crisis. Just recently, General Eyre has publicly stated that
we have to scale back.

What precisely, in your opinion, must be scaled back in the army,
in the navy, and in the air force respectively? Second, is this draw‐
down an admission that we cannot meet our NORAD and NATO
commitments?

The Chair: Insofar as you can, if you could tie that question to
the study, it would be helpful.

LGen Alain Pelletier: Mr. Chair, I'll let General Huddleston,
who's responsible for force generation in the RCAF, address the
question to start off.

MGen Iain Huddleston: Thank you, sir.

My responsibilities include reconstitution and the retention effort
for the RCAF. I'm not involved in recruitment, although my divi‐
sion is focused on supporting recruitment through improving RCAF
attractions. What we mean by that is selling ourselves effectively at
events around the country and at colleges.

I acknowledge that the CDS has presented our personnel situa‐
tion as a crisis, and I agree with that. My role as the commander of
1 CAD, with my commander of 1 CAD hat on as opposed to the
CANR hat on, is to streamline operational training by training indi‐
viduals from the basic point to where they are operators. We are
looking at ways to fast-track and to acknowledge the past experi‐
ence of the individuals to accelerate those paths.

Another part of my job is very much on the retention side, where
I need to make the RCAF a better place to work and a more attrac‐
tive place to stay, moving forward. Effectively, that's where I'm fo‐
cused. In terms of the RCAF as a whole, the focus points are simi‐
lar, but they extend now to basic training and to working with the
chief of military personnel to improve recruitment.

To describe it as a crisis is accurate. There are a number of num‐
bers out there in the public sphere, as you've said. I won't speak to
those, but it is very much a near-term, key focal point for the
RCAF.

● (1140)

Mrs. Shelby Kramp-Neuman: Do any of the other gentlemen
wish to comment on that?

LGen Alain Pelletier: I'll just add on to General Huddleston's
answer that obviously NORAD will continue to do its mission as
part of the CAF reconstitution priority. The vice-CDS has acknowl‐
edged the requirements for our personnel to be dedicated to the
mission, given the no-fail nature of our mission in terms of threat
warning and attack assessment.
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Mrs. Shelby Kramp-Neuman: Thank you.
The Chair: You have about 20 seconds.
Mrs. Shelby Kramp-Neuman: How can we best attract our

brightest and best Canadians to work within the military? What's
the carrot that we can dangle to these individuals to get them in‐
volved?

The Chair: I bet all of you have opinions about what that carrot
might be. If you could work your answer into some other part of the
proceedings, that would be helpful.

Ms. Lambropoulos, you have four minutes, please.
Ms. Emmanuella Lambropoulos (Saint-Laurent, Lib.): Thank

you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to our witnesses for being here to answer some of our
questions.

I'm going to piggyback a bit on what my colleague said previous‐
ly. I know that it might not be necessarily within your role, but I
was wondering if you could answer to the fact that recruitment ef‐
forts are happening even in the north.

Last week we heard from Stéphane Roussel, who told us that the
indigenous communities are pretty much maxed out through their
work with the rangers, and I was wondering if you could comment
on whether there is still room in the north and in indigenous com‐
munities to go and recruit. Especially if we're talking about protect‐
ing the Arctic, I feel that this is a community that can probably do
that best. Do you have any comments on this?

LGen Alain Pelletier: I agree that northern communities have a
lot to contribute to the defence of our country and to the protection
of our sovereignty; however, I believe that the issue of capacity
would be best addressed by our chief of military personnel, who
keeps statistics and has a very good understanding of the recruiting
pool across Canada.

Unfortunately, I don't have the statistics or the data to answer the
question.

Ms. Emmanuella Lambropoulos: Thank you.

Another colleague of mine, Madame Normandin, previously
mentioned our ability to detect and destroy a missile that is headed
towards Canada. You were starting to answer the question, but I
don't think you finished the answer to that question. I'm quite curi‐
ous to hear what this anti-missile agreement was and why Canada
is not part of it.

Can you comment as to whether or not being part of such an
agreement would make us safer from these threats?

LGen Alain Pelletier: I'm not going to elaborate on why Canada
is not part of the Anti-Ballistic Missile Treaty. That's a policy ques‐
tion that I'll leave to our national decision-makers; however, I'll ad‐
dress our capability of detecting, tracking and—

The Chair: I'm sorry, General Pelletier; apparently we are not
getting translation.

I don't know what to do, other than to simply limit the responses
to General Huddleston and Mr. Quinn. It's really quite unfortunate,

because I know General Pelletier well. I think the world of him and
I think he has tremendous things to add to this conversation.

Should I be arbitrary here, colleagues, and just simply say that
we'll have to invite General Pelletier back at another time?

Mrs. Cheryl Gallant: Is he retiring or anything?
The Chair: No, not as far as I know.

Are you retiring, General Pelletier?
● (1145)

LGen Alain Pelletier: No, I am still in the system.
The Chair: Yes, as far as you know, you haven't been invited to

retire. Well, that's good; we're ahead of the game here.

I am, unfortunately, going to ask the other two to respond to the
questions. Again, I feel bad that we're not going to have the benefit
of General Pelletier's thoughts and wisdom here.

Let me turn to either Mr. Quinn or General Huddleston to re‐
spond to Ms. Lambropoulos.

MGen Iain Huddleston: I can attempt to follow up on what
General Pelletier was saying. We are challenged in our ability to
detect and track the most modern missile systems or weapon sys‐
tems that both the Russians and the Chinese possess, but part of
NORAD modernization is to get after some of that problem in both
the detect and the defeat areas of our business.

The Chair: With that, you have one minute, Madame Nor‐
mandin.

[Translation]
Ms. Christine Normandin: Thank you.

I'd like to follow up on Mrs. Kramp‑Neuman's line of question‐
ing.

Which sectors of NORAD are the hardest hit by the personnel
shortage? Is it infrastructure maintenance, surveillance or aerospace
capacity? Which sectors are the most vulnerable?

MGen Iain Huddleston: Thank you for your question.

I would say we don't have enough personnel to perform infras‐
tructure maintenance, but we also need personnel to maintain our
aerospace capacity. Aviation technicians, in particular, come to
mind.

Our surveillance teams are also affected, but as I said, we are
working on reinforcing them through technology and training en‐
hancements.

[English]

It's primarily in those two areas where we are focused in order to
support NORAD modernization moving forward.

The Chair: Thank you.

Ms. Mathyssen, you have one minute.
Ms. Lindsay Mathyssen: Thank you.
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I think in our first meeting on this study, we heard from Admiral
Topshee about the dangers, of course, of climate change, and how
that's changing how our armed forces up in the north, up in the Arc‐
tic, deal with that.

Could you quickly expand on that for us today?
MGen Iain Huddleston: Mr. Chair, I believe that question is for

the military side of the house.

We are very focused on the government's commitment to net ze‐
ro, and we're doing our best to ensure that our aircraft are moving
forward in that direction. Primarily, our efforts that are going to be
successful in the near term involve improvements to infrastructure,
reductions in the use of flying hours through simulation, and cer‐
tainly consultation with indigenous and northern communities in
order to ensure that our impacts are minimized when our forces are
deployed to the north.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Mathyssen.

Mr. Bezan, you have four minutes.
Mr. James Bezan (Selkirk—Interlake—Eastman, CPC):

Thank you, Mr. Chair. I'll be quick.

I want to thank our witnesses.

We were looking at the U.S. ballistic missile defence program.
Could General Pelletier explain the mechanisms of how the hand-
off happens between NORAD and the American BMD program if
they were going to intercept a warhead coming towards North
America and how that hand-off comes back again, just so people
understand the efficacy of the program and the overall involvement
that Canada has directly and indirectly in the decision-making pro‐
cess?

The Chair: I know you directed that question to General Pelleti‐
er. Unfortunately, his communication is not working.
● (1150)

Mr. James Bezan: I'll put it to Major-General Huddleston as
commander of the Canadian NORAD region.

MGen Iain Huddleston: I don't, unfortunately, have knowledge
of the Canadian involvement in the missile defence aspect of NO‐
RAD headquarters. That would have to be a question that we would
take on notice to be answered more fulsomely at a later time.

Mr. James Bezan: We'd appreciate that. You can get back to us
on that.

When we are looking at upgrading our current NORAD North
Warning System, when we start talking about over-the-horizon
radar systems as well as low-earth orbit satellites, would that give
us complete coverage of our Arctic archipelagos versus where
we're at today, which is strictly on the continent?

Mr. Jonathan Quinn: I will start, and General Huddleston
might have more to add.

Yes. The idea is that the Canadian contribution to the new lay‐
ered surveillance system would be an Arctic over-the-horizon radar
site near the Canada-U.S. border that would look to the outer reach‐
es of Canadian territory. A second site would be in the High Arctic
in Canada that would see up and over the pole. A little bit of residu‐
al research and development are required for that High Arctic sys‐

tem, but the plan would be for that to be fielded approximately two
years after the lower-latitude system.

Thank you.

Mr. James Bezan: When were you looking at a timeline, then?
You're saying two years after the fact. Is a Canadian industry in‐
volved as the developer, or is it American? What is the timeline
here to get this whole system up and running?

Mr. Jonathan Quinn: We are in the early stages of implementa‐
tion at this point, but, as I think General Pelletier said in an earlier
answer, for that initial Arctic over-the-horizon radar system, we're
looking to have that up and running towards the end of the 2020s.

Mr. James Bezan: Is NORAD also looking more into the space
domain of making use of satellites and expanding their
RADARSAT constellation in particular?

Mr. Jonathan Quinn: From a Canadian perspective, part of the
package that was announced in June for NORAD modernization in‐
cluded additional investment in both earth observation satellite—
that was the follow-on to the RADARSAT constellation mission I
mentioned previously—and additional funding to get the secure
satellite communications above 65° north up and running.

Both of those will be important Canadian contributions, not
specifically to NORAD space capabilities, but they will certainly be
used, and NORAD will benefit from those investments.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Bezan.

Mr. Fisher, you have the final four minutes.

Mr. Darren Fisher (Dartmouth—Cole Harbour, Lib.): Thank
you very much, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, gentlemen, for being here.

I'm going to direct my question to Mr. Quinn. I'm looking for
some more discussion in layman's terms.

We talked about the future fighter capability project. With other
questioners, most notably Mr. Robillard, we talked about NORAD
modernization. I'm interested in how the two, NORAD moderniza‐
tion and the future fighter capability project, will work together to
improve our ability to patrol Canada's aerospace.

Mr. Quinn, I thought you said some things about this before that
seemed at a level I could easily understand, and I would appreciate
that.

Mr. Jonathan Quinn: Thanks very much, Mr. Chair.

I'll start, and I'll invite General Huddleston to chip in as well.

In terms of the interaction between the future fighter and some of
the investments as part of the NORAD modernization package, I
mentioned new investments in infrastructure. That will make sure
that both in southern Canada but also in the NORAD forward oper‐
ating locations the infrastructure is appropriate and well set up for
those really advanced capabilities of the future fighter aircraft.
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As well, a big part of the NORAD modernization effort is to en‐
hance command and control systems. We have a huge amount of
data already coming in from various sensors. As we modernize
those surveillance systems, there will be even more data. We will
use new technology, like artificial intelligence, secure cloud com‐
puting and machine learning, to ingest all of that information com‐
ing from those sensors, analyze it and spit it out in easily under‐
standable, decision-quality information for operators. We'll have
the ability to communicate that not only to operators in headquar‐
ters, but also pilots who are flying the future fighter, to make sure
that they have that decision-quality information at the ready.

As well—and this is the last thing I'll mention—one of the other
initiatives of the NORAD modernization effort is to procure new
air-to-air missiles, both short- and long-range, essentially acquiring
more of those so we have sufficient stocks, but also a new, longer-
range variant of air-to-air missiles that will be used in the future
fighter aircraft. This will help account for the fact that our adver‐
saries can launch missiles that can threaten Canada from further
away.

Between that enhanced northern infrastructure, so that you can
pre-position fighters further to the Canadian outer reaches, and
those longer-range missiles, the package will make us much more
capable.

General Huddleston, I'm not sure whether there's time to add
anything else to that.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.
● (1155)

The Chair: You have about a minute.
MGen Iain Huddleston: Thank you, Mr. Quinn. You've covered

it all very well.

The fighters and the supporting structure for the fighters are our
defeat mechanism. They're meant to engage the threats that we see,
but they will also contribute significantly to domain awareness, the
surveillance of the space when they're airborne.

NORAD defence, defence of this continent, is very much a lay‐
ered effort. We've talked about satellites, about communication and
surveillance, about radars, and now we're talking about the fighters.
The way they mesh together is important, in order to bring all of
those capabilities together to achieve the priorities of General Van‐
Herck and to give us the detect and defeat capabilities, particularly,
that we're short on currently.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Fisher.
Mr. Darren Fisher: That was really helpful. Thank you, gentle‐

men.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Quinn, for making the answers easi‐

ly understandable to Mr. Fisher.

With that, I have to suspend.

Gentlemen, I hope that the technology we are purchasing for
multiple billions of dollars works a bit better than the technology
that poor General Pelletier was subject to for the past hour.

It was good to see both Mr. Quinn and General Pelletier again.

We wish you well, and we thank you for your appearance here
and look forward to your future appearances. You aid this study
mightily. Safe travels to all of you.

I will suspend while we re-empanel.

● (1155)
_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1200)

The Chair: Okay, we're back on.

It's good to see Professor Fergusson again. Welcome back to the
committee. You are a familiar face.

Mr. Fetterly as well, welcome back to the committee.

We're going to interrupt at about 12:30 for Professor Charron to
join us for the final half-hour.

Congratulations, Professor Fergusson, on the publication of your
book. I look forward to it.

Dr. James Fergusson (Professor, Centre for Defence and Se‐
curity Studies, Department of Political Studies, University of
Manitoba, As an Individual): Thank you very much. It's Andrea's
book and my book—both of us.

The Chair: It's both of you, yes.

I'm sure you'll have so many royalties coming out of this book
that you'll be able to retire.

With that, Professor Fergusson, you have five minutes, please.

Dr. James Fergusson: Thank you.

Thank you for the invitation to testify before the committee. I
have three points to raise, which, hopefully, we can get into in some
detail in the question period.

The first concerns NORAD modernization and its impact on the
Arctic, and other general issues about North American defence and
security. The second concerns relations with Russia in the Arctic.
The third relates to the impact of the commitment to defence in‐
vestment in the Arctic—although we don't know, from the an‐
nouncement by the Minister of National Defence in June, the spe‐
cific amount of the $40 billion devoted that will actually go into the
Arctic—and its implications for the indigenous and local communi‐
ties.
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First, concerning NORAD modernization, if you look at the doc‐
uments, including the joint statement between the Secretary of De‐
fense of the United States and the Minister of National Defence in
August of last year, the parameters of NORAD modernization re‐
main locked into a Cold War structure and mentality. Even though
the threat environment has changed, by and large dictated both by
geopolitical changes that have occurred roughly since 2014 and by
technological changes that have changed the nature of the threat en‐
vironment, it doesn't seem that either the Canadian government or
National Defence, at least publicly—and again, I won't speak to the
United States and their views on this—has really thought about the
implications of NORAD modernization for the Arctic.

In specific terms for Arctic security, when the government is
committed to funding a new surveillance system consisting of two
new radar lines and additional upgrades, modernizations and per‐
haps some new forward operating locations, they don't seem to re‐
alize that this of course creates a direct threat to the Arctic. In this
context, we rely upon the defeat mechanism or defence mechanism,
basically, with our new generation of fighters—when we get
them—and long-range to medium-range air-to-air missile systems.

What's important is to recognize that in the case of conflict, these
will become a first target for Russia, and I'll put China sort of in the
background of all this. This raises issues about the need to develop
point defences. These will be ground-based defences to provide a
layer of defence, and this extends further south.

That's the immediate issue that emerges from the modernization
program, but of course it existed in the past, so there's nothing new
there. More importantly, when you think about the new threat envi‐
ronment, the main threat environment, two things pop up immedi‐
ately.

First, NORAD is now in the business of missile defence. By the
nature of the long-range cruise missile hypersonics, as well as the
ballistic missile capabilities of Russia—and, in the future, China as
well—these have become missiles.... We need to have the capacity
to intercept missiles in flight. This of course raises major issues for
the government and the department, as well as the United States,
about being able to keep NORAD in its traditional box of air de‐
fence or air control, or “aerospace control”, as they call it. It's just
air defence, because we have not been in the missile defence busi‐
ness in the past. Hence, what capabilities will we need to be able to
deal with this problem?

That's the first thing that emerges. This raises major issues that
the government and the department need to start thinking about. I'm
sure they're thinking about it, but of course this has implications for
long-standing Canadian policy on ballistic missile defence.

The second element of this is that it's an all-domain environment.
It's an all-domain defence environment, so we of course talk about
surveillance being in all domains, with land, air, space and mar‐
itime being integrated together on the surveillance side of the equa‐
tion, but this also needs to be integrated in terms of the defeat or
defence side of the equation for an effective deterrence by denial.
In that regard, this raises questions about the current structure or the
mission suite of NORAD, which is largely aerospace—air de‐
fence—and whether this needs to expand the NORAD mission

suite and in fact move towards the development of a true integrated
North American defence command.

The second reason related to this is of course the command and
control issues. That's an essential part of NORAD modernization.
In so doing, you have an issue about the current command struc‐
ture, which is NORAD headquarters and the regional commands,
and whether that's an efficient and effective way to undertake this.
These are all changes that are going to fall out, or what I like to call
the elephant in the room.

● (1205)

The third thing raises the issue of the eastern approaches to
North America. This raises questions about NORAD as a binational
arrangement and the issues of Greenland, which means Denmark—
of course, on the sideline of this is Iceland—and how they may es‐
sentially need to be brought into the NORAD arrangement. In so
doing, this raises questions about NATO and NATO's involvement
in the Arctic; traditionally, the Canadian policy has been to keep
NATO out of the Arctic.

Those are the first set, on NORAD modernization.

The second is relations with Russia. We have treated, as a func‐
tion of the Russian aggression in Ukraine, our relationship with
Russia, as well as China, as black and white. That is, they are our
enemies, as the chief of the defence staff said about a week ago in
testimony to another committee—I think it was the committee on
public safety.

We live in a world of great power politics, great power relations.
It's important to remember that in great power politics, the United
States leading the west, Russia and China, and I would add—

The Chair: Professor Fergusson, unfortunately, you're a bit over
your time.

Dr. James Fergusson: Already?

The Chair: Already, yes. I know it comes as a great shock to a
professor.

Dr. James Fergusson: Yes, I know.

That's okay. I can talk about these things later on.

The Chair: Okay.

Dr. Fetterly, you have five minutes, please.
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Dr. Ross Fetterly (Academic, As an Individual): Thank you
for the opportunity to speak on the subject of Arctic security. My
perspective is that of a former military practitioner and an academic
with three decades of study and publishing on defence resource
management issues. To give you context of my background, I re‐
tired from the military in 2017 as the RCAF comptroller and busi‐
ness planner.

My focus today is on climate change and the impact on defence
infrastructure in northern Canada. The 2021 NATO climate change
and security plan defined climate change as a “threat multiplier” to
NATO members. In the time allocated, I am going to initially dis‐
cuss the effect of increasing temperatures in the north and the im‐
pact on defence, and then conclude by outlining the climate change
risks to defence infrastructure.

The availability of infrastructure in the north is the first and most
important factor that is necessary to enable the Canadian Armed
Forces and the Department of National Defence to operate effec‐
tively in the north throughout the year. In recent years, climate
change has been a lived reality for citizens living in northern
Canada.

The recently released Canadian Climate Institute report, entitled
“Facing the Costs of Climate Change for Northern Infrastructure”,
stated up front that “Northern Canada faces a double threat of al‐
ready inadequate infrastructure in a rapidly warming climate.”
Canada has a long-standing infrastructure deficit, and this is partic‐
ularly acute in the north. Physical infrastructure is defined as roads,
bridges, sidewalks, potable water systems, airfields, ports and storm
and waste-water systems. Governments from the municipal to the
federal level have been slow to adapt their infrastructure to climate
change.

The United States, in a recent report, has defined that “Climate
change is increasing the demand and scope for military operations
at home and [abroad].” In Canada, in the 2020-23 “Defence Energy
and Environment Strategy”, DND is “the largest user of energy and
the single largest emitter of [greenhouse gases] in the federal gov‐
ernment”.

As global temperatures continue to climb, broad shifts in weather
systems are occurring, making events like droughts, hurricanes and
floods more intense and unpredictable. Extreme weather events that
may have hit just once in our parents’ lifetimes are becoming more
common.

The cost of infrastructure in northern remote locations is signifi‐
cantly higher than in southern Canada.

There are four distinct risks to DND on climate change. The first
is budget risk, repairing facilities damaged by climate change
events and the need to update both buildings and infrastructure to
adapt to climate change. Two is operational risk, reducing training
activities due to meteorological or other climate-related risks. Three
is the increased frequency of aid to civil power, that being provin‐
cial governments, increased deployments of military personnel
across the country to support provincial governments and commu‐
nities that have been impacted by floods, forest fires and hurri‐
canes. We've seen a lot of that recently. The final one is outdated
regulations. All levels of government in the north need to update in‐

frastructure policies, regulations, standards and building codes to
explicitly account for the complex and severe impacts of northern
climate change.

Thank you.

● (1210)

The Chair: Thank you, Dr. Fetterly.

With that, we'll start our six-minute round with Mrs. Gallant. I
anticipate that somewhere in the six-minute round we'll have Dr.
Charron come in. I'll just interrupt at that point, and then we'll carry
on after she makes her opening five-minute statement.

Mrs. Gallant, go ahead for six minutes.

Mrs. Cheryl Gallant: Professor Fergusson, Canada is increas‐
ingly viewed as being a laggard in Arctic defence. We have Sweden
and Finland entering NATO. How do we compare in terms of GDP
spent on Arctic defence? Is there an argument to be made that
Canada has not been pulling its collective weight in the last number
of years?

Dr. James Fergusson: Certainly there's an argument that we
haven't pulled our weight; that's without doubt. If you look at the
Europeans, Sweden and Finland are about to be new members of
NATO. Don't bring those into the equation, because they have a dif‐
ferent strategic situation and threat situation than Canada does.

The investments proposed or planned by the government are im‐
portant. They're vital. But they are a little late, and the time frame
for committing $4.9 billion—I think this is the number—over six
years and $40 billion over 20 years implies that we are going to lag
far behind relative to the threat environment we have to deal with to
ensure that we have a credible posture of defence by deterrence.
We're late and we will remain vulnerable for a long time.

Mrs. Cheryl Gallant: Russia has demonstrated its ability to op‐
erate in the high north. It has more capability than we do, and we
know that the regime under Putin is expansionist. What does
Canada need to do to ensure we don't fall victim to encroachment
in our north? What are our “must haves”?



12 NDDN-37 November 1, 2022

● (1215)

Dr. James Fergusson: I don't think it's an issue of encroachment
by the Russians in the far north. As I was trying to point out—but I
talk too much and go on too long—we have common interests with
the Russians in the Arctic, and we need to look at developing posi‐
tive relations, what used to be called confidence and security-build‐
ing measures, in the Arctic with the Russians. Great power relations
are a mix of competition, adversarial relations and co-operation.

I'm not overly concerned about the threat to the Arctic. What
Canada needs to do is to be much clearer about where we're going
to invest in the Arctic, and we have to start moving more quickly. I
understand the delays, because the threat environment actually goes
back to 2011, and it took a lot of political changes in the world be‐
fore we started to move. That, of course, also affects the United
States' thinking in this.

In terms of investments, the two radar lines are important. Do we
need a third radar line further south? That may be important. Do we
need additional defence mechanisms to ensure a credible “deter‐
rence by denial” posture? My view is that, yes, we do. The govern‐
ment is not committed to any ground-based missile defence sys‐
tems, and those need to be taken into close account.

Mrs. Cheryl Gallant: Something this committee has heard
about in this study is the myth that a Russian force could invade our
far north and ask for our assistance to rescue them if that was ever
attempted. With the advent of hypersonic glide vehicles capable of
reaching Canada or the United States in minutes, in what we under‐
stand would be a war with advanced technologies and not tradition‐
al expeditionary forces, could Canada ever hope to neutralize these
threats with our own technology, or would we have to be fully inte‐
grated with the United States, where the American all-domain
threat sensors are integrated with multi-level missile defence sys‐
tems at their core?

Dr. James Fergusson: The answer is simple. We have to be inte‐
grated with the United States. We do not have the capacity or the
will to invest the dollars needed to develop our own, based on our
research and development capabilities, to deal with, particularly,
hypersonic threats.

It's unclear, at least for the moment—because details are sparse,
and I understand why, for security reasons—whether the over-the-
horizon systems will be able to deal with the hypersonic problem.
We need to integrate. The United States is integrating air and mis‐
sile defences. We need to follow suit. The issue becomes what as‐
pects, in terms of economic benefits and involvement with Canadi‐
an companies and relative to the Canadian economy, can be inte‐
grated in this, given that we are already integrated in the defence
industrial sector.

Mrs. Cheryl Gallant: In terms of government investment in the
basics of upgrading NORAD, how far behind are we and how far
forward would we be today had we begun to make these invest‐
ments—these very serious investments—in 2016?

Dr. James Fergusson: It's very difficult to know.

One of the major issues with regard to the over-the-pole or over-
the-horizon polar radar system they're talking about is dealing with
atmospheric interference: the aurora borealis, to be blunt. The gov‐
ernment did invest and did give a contract to Raytheon Canada to

look at the over-the-horizon system, but I don't know the results of
that development and test procedure.

It's certainly something that needs to be moved forward. As I
said, if you go back to 2011, that really was the date when this
should have started to move forward, but we've been delayed and
delayed and delayed. NORAD modernization was identified in
2017. No funding was provided. There are a lot of reasons behind
that, but yes, we lag behind, and we will stay behind for a long pe‐
riod of time.

The Chair: Thank you, Mrs. Gallant.

Mr. May, you have six minutes.

Mr. Bryan May (Cambridge, Lib.): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to both of you for being here today.

For my first question, I'd like to get a response from both of you,
if possible, starting with Professor Fergusson. How can the federal
government work with our northern and indigenous communities to
advance Arctic security?

Dr. James Fergusson: The answer, in my view, is more than
consultation. In my view, the answer—as I was going to say in my
opening remarks but I went too long—is that the defence invest‐
ment in NORAD modernization relative to the Arctic will have sig‐
nificant impacts, and we don't know which specific portion that is,
because it will be a lot of things. It will be transformative in the
Arctic.

What does this mean for the indigenous communities? That's an
important issue, because when we think about security, we think
about the defence security of the nation and North America in co-
operation with the United States, but those very developments can
undermine security in the indigenous and local communities. You're
going to invest a lot of money in jobs and training. Is it sustainable
over a long period of time? How will it impact indigenous culture?

Also, the government is structured on a functional basis, so De‐
fence will do defence, Transport will do transport and Health will
do health, all related to the Arctic. You have a lot of departments
and agencies, but there is no central structure in the Government of
Canada to integrate it and to recognize that when we invest in de‐
fence in the Arctic, these are dual-use capabilities. Better communi‐
cations will enhance communications—Internet access, virtual
health—and a variety of benefits for the indigenous community, so
those investments have to be integrated, and that requires, to use
the government term, a whole-of-government approach, but there is
no whole-of-government structure to do this.

● (1220)

Mr. Bryan May: Thank you.

Go ahead, sir.
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Dr. Ross Fetterly: Also, I think about consultation and capacity
building to increase the rate of infrastructure construction in the
north. The northern population is growing. There are a lot of young
people of working age who want to work. I think that the training
provided—increased training and development—particularly in the
trades, is a good start.

Mr. Bryan May: That's excellent.

This question is for Professor Fergusson. In light of growing ten‐
sions between NATO and Russia, is Canada doing enough in terms
of allied military exercises in the Canadian Arctic? What are the
pros and cons of potentially expanding allied exercises in the Arc‐
tic?

Dr. James Fergusson: The pro side is that it enables us to inte‐
grate, to be interoperable and to have a centralized command and
control system to deal with threats to the Arctic.

The con side specifically is that NATO's interest in the Arctic is
not Canada's interest in the Arctic. To put it in blunt terms, NATO's
interest in the Arctic is that the Arctic and the Arctic approaches
down the North Atlantic are the back door to NATO. They're inter‐
ested in one set of problems emerging for NATO security or Euro‐
pean security. We have other interests and other problems related to
North America. That's the difficulty.

The second element of the downside of this is that it now creates
an image. If you think about the meeting of the Arctic 7, the NATO
allies chiefs of staff meeting, this implies that North America and
NATO are integrating together and that as a result of this we will
use this as an avenue to threaten Russia. It is politically and diplo‐
matically problematic, in my view.

Mr. Bryan May: Thank you.

In terms of international co-operation on the Arctic, what are the
most important steps Canada can take to advance its interests, en‐
hance its Arctic security more broadly and co-operate productively
with its allies?

Hopefully, I can get a quick answer from both of you.
Dr. James Fergusson: The simple answer, in my mind, is to re‐

store the Arctic Council to deal with the non-military side of it and
to begin lower-level discussions with Russian military officials, be‐
cause that is a key issue here, to avoid the miscommunication or
misunderstanding that can lead to accidental warfare in the Arctic.
Canada and Russia have a common interest to keep the Arctic iso‐
lated. If we can do that through what was known in the past as con‐
fidence- and security-building measures at the military-to-military
level, that will facilitate a more secure Arctic, in my view.

It doesn't mean that we're justifying the Russian invasion of
Ukraine at all. That's a different set of issues.

The Chair: You have 30 seconds.
Mr. Bryan May: Professor, you're left with about 30 seconds,

sorry.
Dr. Ross Fetterly: I would look at China. China is building ice‐

breakers. China is looking at the north for resource extraction, from
fishing to minerals in the seabed. I think that's more of a long-term
threat to Canada and North America than the Russians are at the
present.

● (1225)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. May.

Madame Normandin, you have six minutes, please.

[Translation]

Ms. Christine Normandin: Thank you very much.

Thank you to the two witnesses.

Professor Fergusson, Major-General Huddleston, in the previous
panel, said that deterrence capability would be important in the fu‐
ture, because the expectation is that—

[English]

Dr. James Fergusson: My apologies. I'm not getting the English
translation.

The Chair: You probably need to change your settings to get the
English translation.

Dr. James Fergusson: Okay. I think I have it.

The Chair: Go ahead, Madame Normandin.

[Translation]

Ms. Christine Normandin: I'll repeat the question.

Major-General Huddleston was in the previous panel of witness‐
es, and he said that deterrence capability would be important for
NORAD in the future, because missiles were becoming faster and
faster and our ability to intercept and destroy them was becoming
more and more limited.

As we speak, how do our potential adversaries view NORAD's
capability? Does NORAD come across as being strong? Can NO‐
RAD flex its muscle and scare or deter them, or do our current ad‐
versaries not really take NORAD seriously?

[English]

Dr. James Fergusson: I think NORAD is taken seriously. I can't
speak to the perceptions of the Russians, but if I look at the world,
the answer is that we're not very persuasive at all. We don't have the
capacity with the current North Warning System to track cruise
missiles. We have a limited capacity with our F-18s, and our future
F-35s when we buy them, with look-down radar capabilities to be
able to track them and intercept them. That's a limited capability.
We don't have the capacity to track hypersonic vehicles.
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The answer is that we are vulnerable. The Russians, in terms of
thinking about these vulnerabilities, have one big calculation in the
back of their minds, which goes back to the Cold War stance of de‐
terrence in North America relative to the Soviet threat, etc. That is,
can the Russians be sure that any sort of military use using conven‐
tional weapons will not be met with nuclear retaliation? At the
backbone of North American defence and security is the nuclear re‐
taliatory capability of the United States. That is the ace in the hand
that partially mitigates the concerns of the conventional threat of
the missile world, hypersonics and cruise missiles. How credible
that is is another important question, and for NORAD, the thinking
right now is that it's not very credible.
[Translation]

Ms. Christine Normandin: Thank you for such a detailed an‐
swer.

I'd like your take on the missile defence shield, ballistic missile
defence. In 2005, Canada said that it would not join the system, but
we're hearing that Canada may have changed its tune.

If Canada decided to join the system, might the U.S. say it
doesn't want the dead weight? Do we have the wherewithal to be a
credible partner if we decided to join the ballistic missile defence
system?
[English]

Dr. James Fergusson: That's the million-dollar question, and it
refers to understanding the Canadian policy in terms of what partic‐
ipating means for Canada and what we have to do.

Generally in the threat environment today, which is technologi‐
cally based—in which the United States is integrating air and mis‐
sile defence, which includes defence against air-breathing bombers
and fighter bombers, cruise missiles and hypersonics all integrated
with ballistic missile defence into one—Canadian territory starts to
become very important. If the United States, for example, proceeds
with their third missile defence site in upstate New York, which
hasn't proceeded yet, the value of Canadian territory in terms of
tracking battle damage assessment radars goes up significantly.

You can imagine that in the future, if this goes ahead, relative to
integration, Canada's participation will be welcomed by the United
States because we're going to provide a very valuable piece of terri‐
tory to them for an effective defence of North America.

It also raises the question of whether we're defended right now
anyway. We don't know, and that then raises questions about com‐
mand and control. If you go back to 2003 or 2004, when we dis‐
cussed this with the United States, the United States said that
Canada could not have a role—nor would NORAD have a role—in
command and control, but that may all change.

There are a lot of emerging issues in this. My hunch is that down
the road, we will have to be engaged one way or another, but how
that co-operation with the United States will work out is the mil‐
lion-dollar question.
● (1230)

[Translation]
Ms. Christine Normandin: You talked about the fact that NO‐

RAD is a bilateral agreement. Where do you stand on the possibili‐

ty of bringing other countries into NORAD, while keeping NATO
independent? Is that something worth considering or not?

[English]

Dr. James Fergusson: I think it's a really important thing. Re‐
member, it is a binational arrangement, but you have Greenland and
Iceland, and, as I mentioned in my opening comments, part of the
track now—which didn't exist in the Cold War—because of tech‐
nology, brings the direct threat down the eastern approaches of the
North Atlantic between Greenland and Iceland. Those need to be
integrated into our defence system.

Historically, that part of the North American defence component
was NATO, but, by and large, it was bilateral between the United
States and Greenland and Denmark, with the Thule radar, for exam‐
ple. There were also American relations with Iceland on the de‐
fence side, so it was sort of pushed to the side. Because of the inte‐
grated nature of this threat environment, I think it's vitally impor‐
tant that Canada and the United States engage Greenland, Denmark
and Iceland and begin to integrate a system of systems—we talk
about that for the Arctic—for surveillance to make sure they're in‐
tegrated into North America. As I said, those approaches are the
front door to North America but they're the back door to Europe.

The Chair: Thank you, Madame Normandin, for those two mil‐
lion-dollar questions. With military inflation, they're more like two
billion-dollar questions.

Welcome, Dr. Charron, to the panel. We have a little over 20
minutes left. I'm thinking that we will stay with the questions, un‐
less you have maybe a one- or two-minute statement, and then we
can keep on going through our questions.

What would you prefer?

Mr. Pat Kelly (Calgary Rocky Ridge, CPC): The statement
can be provided to the committee and then it will get onto the
record that way. That will save time.

The Chair: I think they want to carry on with the questions, and
I'm sure that between Dr. Fetterly and you and Dr. Fergusson, you'll
sort out something.

Let me just turn it over to Ms. Mathyssen for six minutes, and
you'll jump in as you're able. Congratulations on the book.

Ms. Mathyssen, go ahead.

Ms. Lindsay Mathyssen: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Last week, we heard from Dr. Michael Byers. He said specific
things, such as that we need to preserve that assured mutual sense
of destruction to hold some of our opponents at bay. Certainly, Dr.
Fergusson, you touched on that. He also said, though, that Russia
will not invade the North American Arctic.
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You touched on that a bit today and talked about the confidence
and security agreement and working on those relationships. There
was certainly a discussion in terms of the fact that, through that re‐
source extraction or additional number of people going through the
Arctic, that can be done through policing and through the interna‐
tional agreements and laws we already have in place, and that the
idea of Arctic security takes a different role.

Can you talk about that? Can you expand on your opinion on
that?

I will open that to Dr. Charron as well.
● (1235)

Dr. Andrea Charron (Associate Professor, Department of Po‐
litical Studies, and Director, Centre for Defence and Security
Studies, University of Manitoba, As an Individual): Thanks very
much.

I think what you're trying to get at is whether we have the right
laws to entice Russia to continue to respect the rules-based interna‐
tional order. Notwithstanding the egregious behaviour in Ukraine,
when it comes to the Arctic, they've actually been a very helpful
Arctic partner. NORAD, for example, is very quick to note that
even when Russia is buzzing our air identification zones, they are
remaining in international airspace. We still have the search and
rescue agreements. We still have the moratorium on Arctic fishing
in the central Arctic Ocean.

What we really want to do is encourage the Arctic states and es‐
pecially Russia, and by extension observers in the rest of the world,
to respect the rules-based international order, to get back to the
business of scientific, indigenous, knowledge-based projects that
work to mitigate the effects of climate change, to respect the UN
Commission on the Limits of the Continental Shelf, which to date
has been respected, and to return to that more co-operative tone we
had pre-2014.

Dr. James Fergusson: I would only add that if you look at the
projections about transportation in the Arctic, in the United States,
for example, their Coast Guard, the policing arm, is also under title
10 and can be transferred to the Department of Defense—they are
military vessels.

I think it's similar in the case of Russia. Along with increased
transportation up there, assuming that this all plays itself out as pro‐
jected, you will have a more military naval presence there. That
means you're going to, in the international waters side of the Arctic,
depending on how it all opens up, have more likelihood that you're
going to have not confrontations but connections or meetings of
Russian naval vessels, military vessels, Canadian, American, etc.,
and Chinese potentially, in the future.

In that context, it's important that when we talk about the rules-
based order, the notion to extend this in the ideal...we need to de‐
velop common rules that go beyond simply the law of the sea and
the way it's been done elsewhere. These were problems during the
Cold War. We need to start talking about how to manage this co-
operatively because of common interests. That's an issue that has to
emerge as one of the confidence-building and security measures
that I think are important in the Arctic.

Ms. Lindsay Mathyssen: One of the conversations we led to
last week, as well, was that idea of, through whatever will happen
in the world with Russia, not pushing it towards China in terms of
our activities, certainly not isolating it permanently, and going for‐
ward in a far more diplomatic way.

Could you comment on that as well?

Dr. Andrea Charron: I certainly can. As I was saying in my
opening remarks, I don't think this Arctic 7 versus Russia is helpful.
I was actually very surprised that Canada would host the first Arc‐
tic chief of defence staff meeting this summer, having already met
with Arctic allies without Russia, and including the Netherlands,
France, Germany, and the U.K. in the Arctic security forces round
table in Alaska. We don't want to entrench this A7 and others ver‐
sus Russia. What we really want to do is encourage Russia.

I think the Arctic is going to be the issue area that is how we nor‐
malize, eventually, relations with Russia after it returns all annexed
territory to Ukraine. So it's quite far off, but traditionally, coming
out of the Cold War, the Arctic has been very special for Russia. It
accounts for 20% of their GDP. They have the largest amount of
land and maritime space there, and population. There are all sorts
of reasons they want the Arctic to work for them.

We have to find other avenues for the Arctic 7 to discuss Arctic
issues without making it into an Arctic 7 club, and work with the
permanent participants. Let's not forget that we promised them that
we would consult them, and time and time again we make decisions
without them. It will be the scientists and the permanent partici‐
pants who will be the leads in normalizing relations and encourag‐
ing Russia to return to what has been a more co-operative space.

● (1240)

The Chair: Thank you.

The math doesn't work, folks, so we're down to three minutes,
then three, one, one, three, three and one.

Go ahead, Mrs. Kramp-Neuman.

Mrs. Shelby Kramp-Neuman: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

We've heard today and throughout the entire study so far that
we're vulnerable and that we have limited capabilities in the north.
Without a strong plan for recruitment and retention, Canada will
not have the troop numbers we need to achieve our current objec‐
tives. What's the plan to improve the military lifestyle, and how do
we attract the best and brightest to our Canadian Armed Forces?

Dr. Ross Fetterly: I can answer that question.
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I teach regularly at the Royal Military College of Canada dis‐
tance learning program, which is an excellent program, particularly
at the undergraduate level. My students tell me—they are often
married couples, and they have kids—that their priority is that
when one of them is posted, they both be posted to the same loca‐
tion. That's extremely important to them, to the extent that they
could both leave the military if they were separated. That's impor‐
tant to them.

To the extent that career managers and the system can move peo‐
ple from one place to another, that makes a big difference. I think it
will really be a significant issue if that can be put in force.

Dr. James Fergusson: I would add only a few things.

First, and I don't mean to be flippant, hope that the economy
goes down and the labour market shrinks dramatically. That's al‐
ways a correlation to increasing recruitment in the forces. As I said,
I'm not trying to be flippant. There are things that National De‐
fence, in a more focused and sophisticated recruitment and reten‐
tion program, can do, but you have to remember that today, and this
is the real elephant in the room on this side, the shift from a labour-
intensive armed force to a technology-intensive armed force means
that the forces are competing with high-tech, highly educated pri‐
vate companies and the public service as well. What will entice
them to go into the forces, when they're going to make a lot more
money and life is a lot better—let's be honest—in the private sec‐
tor? That's an Achilles heel, and sometimes there's not.... It's what
in public administration they call a “wicked problem”.

One thing that the forces have to start to realize...and this is not
new to me. I would refer back to Doug Bland's words long ago, that
the forces have the mentality that you enter when you're 18 or 19,
you get trained and educated, and that's your life career. In the
world we live in now, life careers are no longer attractive: In five or
10 years, I can get these skills and do this, and then I'll transition
into the private sector—

The Chair: I'm going to have to—
Dr. James Fergusson: Shut me up.

Voices: Oh, oh!
The Chair: Yes.

I doubt that any political party is going to take on your sugges‐
tion of contracting the economy.

Mr. Robillard, you have three minutes, please.
[Translation]

Mr. Yves Robillard: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

When it comes to international co‑operation in the Arctic, what
are the most important things Canada can do to advance its inter‐
ests, improve Arctic security overall and work productively with its
allies?
[English]

Dr. Andrea Charron: I can answer that one.

One of the things we are lacking is a code of conduct for military
and security vessels operating in the Arctic. We have one for the
South China Sea and the East China Sea.

One of the things that all the Arctic states were trying to work
toward was this code of conduct, keeping it outside of the Arctic
Council, because we don't want to mix the really good environmen‐
tal protection and sustainable development work of the Arctic
Council. It was to have a code outside of that, to have that red
phone, and to make sure that, as James Fergusson mentioned, we
have those confidence-building measures: that we continue to in‐
form each other of exercises and continue to call out bad be‐
haviour—such as, for example, when Russia is buzzing vessels dur‐
ing Arctic exercises—and that we have no snap large exercises, be‐
cause that often erodes trust—but all of that will happen after a so‐
lution to Ukraine is found.

● (1245)

[Translation]

Mr. Yves Robillard: Tell us, if you would, how NORAD has
evolved since it was created, particularly in terms of bilateral chal‐
lenges Canada and the U.S. have had to face.

What does the future of NORAD look like, and what does
Canada need to do to prepare?

[English]

Dr. Andrea Charron: Well, I think NORAD has evolved over
time, especially since 9/11.

More important, I think, is integrating the efforts of NORAD,
NATO and the hundreds of bilateral agreements that Canada and
the U.S. have in the other domains, in the land, sea and space do‐
mains. That's where we need to see more momentum and more
movement, so that we're not dealing just with domain-specific
plans.

I'd also like to see us start exercising not just in a NORAD con‐
text, not just in a NATO context and not just in a land context, but
really doing those strategic exercises that involve all domains and
more than just one alliance at a time, and more than one event go‐
ing on at a time, because realistically that's what we're going to
have to prepare for. It's going to be a climate change event and an
adversary will take advantage of that and the lack of resilience on
the ground. It's going to be all of these factors that we need to exer‐
cise, but that's expensive and time-consuming.

The Chair: Thank you, Monsieur Robillard.

Madame Normandin, you have one minute.

[Translation]

Ms. Christine Normandin: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Professor Charron, in the brief you sent in the spring, you talked
about reviewing NORAD's command structure. What change
would you like to see if that structure underwent a review?

[English]

Dr. Andrea Charron: Thank you very much.
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I don't know that it's necessarily a change, because I don't want
us to make precipitous decisions. I do think that this move towards
all-domain command and control is going to mean that, first of all,
our air operation centres will need to be larger to be able to physi‐
cally receive the amounts of different data that we're going to have.

There was talk of a combined forces air component commander.
We seem to have walked that back. The idea is that the NORAD
commander can't be bogged down in the day-to-day workings of
NORAD, that we leave that individual to think strategically about
protecting North America, but I'd also like to see.... Between the
three NORAD regions, we tend to operate only within that region.
Our adversaries don't assume that we are going to stay in those
boxes, so we need to integrate more within the NORAD regions
themselves as well.

The Chair: Thank you, Madame Normandin. We're going to
have to leave that there.

Ms. Mathyssen, you have one minute.
Ms. Lindsay Mathyssen: The Biden administration has recently

changed a bit in terms of where it was going on the nuclear posture
review, certainly in terms of what it's sending out in terms of
bombers to Australia. How does that change Canada's positioning,
considering that we are so integrated?

Dr. Andrea Charron: I think we don't want to try to be all
things to all people. We have now made North American continen‐
tal defence the priority. We cannot deviate from that, because quite
frankly we can't manage very much more.

I'm also really concerned that we're having a NORAD moment
and that we will start to turn our attention to other events and once
again leave North America vulnerable. We have this one chance to
get it done. We need to make sure we do that, and that it stays in
perpetuity rather than becoming the “nice to have” or the “we'll try
to do it every other weekend”. The defence of Canada and North
America is the number one priority.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Mathyssen.

Mr. Bezan, you have three minutes.
Mr. James Bezan: Thank you, Chair.

I want to thank our panellists for being here.

My question is for Professor Fergusson and Professor Charron.

I want to challenge your assumptions that Russia is going to be a
reliable partner in the Arctic, given not only how they have be‐
haved in Ukraine but, leading up to the situation in Ukraine, how
they continued opening up and expanding military bases in their
Arctic. Because of Russia's behaviour, we now have an expansion
of NATO, which they, of course, oppose. I hope Russia is defeated
and all the territory in Ukraine is returned, including Crimea.

The question becomes how we will bridge that gap when essen‐
tially, I would think, they're going to be in quite a foul mood for a
long time based upon a defeat in Ukraine, and they will blame
Canada and all the rest of our NATO allies who have contributed
assets and funding to enable Ukraine to be as effective as it is.

Wouldn't the Arctic become part of the neighbourhood in which
they might see weakness? Shouldn't we be investing even more ag‐
gressively in our Arctic capabilities?

● (1250)

Dr. Andrea Charron: Well, yes and no. What we're seeing from
Russia so far is that they are not being more aggressive in the Arc‐
tic. When Exercise Cold Response was held by NATO in May, Rus‐
sia was very careful about its behaviour around that. The fact is
that, from an economic perspective, the Arctic is very important to
Russia.

We have examples in history of how we have taken aggressors
out of the international community and they have risen up to be
more of a problem. This was Germany after World War I. We also
have the example of France after the Napoleonic War. They were
encouraged to again be part of this thing we called the “Concert of
Europe”, and they rose to the occasion.

We always have to be vigilant. We have to watch Russia, but if
we are not opening opportunities for them to become a good inter‐
national community member, then we reap what we sow.

Dr. James Fergusson: I'll be very brief. Do I have time or not?

The Chair: You have 30 seconds, now 25.

Dr. James Fergusson: I basically agree with my colleague An‐
drea. The outcome of the Russian-Ukrainian war remains to be
seen. We tend to forget. We have this very benign view of our‐
selves, and we discount Russian and Chinese views of us, but if you
look at American military capability and American strategy in
terms of a global strike, you cannot discount the likely perception
in Moscow that they aren't the threat in the Arctic; we are the threat
in the Arctic because of the capacity to strike at these vital assets
and resources.

We need to think in interactive terms, and that of course can be a
spiral up to true conflict, which the Arctic would be engaged in. So
I think this is a problem. I'm not suggesting that I justify the Rus‐
sian aggression against Ukraine—not at all. I'm deeply opposed to
it. But there are other issues involved.

The Chair: Thank you, Professor Fergusson and Mr. Bezan.

You have three minutes, Madame Lambropoulos.

Ms. Emmanuella Lambropoulos: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to all three of our witnesses.

My question will centre around the potential risk, in terms of
Arctic security, of Finland and Sweden joining NATO. Do you
think Russia may potentially shift its focus to those countries, as it
has threatened to do in the past? Do you believe that NATO's more
involved role in the north at that point would change security for
Canada with respect to how NATO protects Canada in this area as
well?
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Dr. Andrea Charron: On the first one, I think that's a red her‐
ring. Russia will certainly make hay over the fact that Sweden and
Finland may join NATO in the future. It's not a fait accompli. How‐
ever, Finland and Sweden have always been a part of every NATO
Arctic exercise.

When we had the Arctic Council, we had the Arctic Five, which
was four NATO countries plus Russia. We would simply be ex‐
panding it to seven NATO countries plus Russia. Sweden and Fin‐
land have always been part of the Arctic and have worked well with
the Arctic countries. They also have a very keen understanding of
Russia as well, and they are not about to jeopardize that by being
overly provocative.

Sorry, with regard to your next question, I've drawn a blank. Can
you quickly remind me?
● (1255)

Ms. Emmanuella Lambropoulos: I think it was pretty much
one question. It was about how involved NATO would be in
Canada's Arctic if this addition were to be made to NATO.

Dr. Andrea Charron: I still think it's not going to be all NATO
countries; not all of them can operate in the Arctic. It's going to be
the same NATO countries that we have seen.

The primary deterrent to the North American Arctic has been via
NORAD. I don't see that changing. What we are looking to do is
exchange more information, and also link the various exercises, for
example Arctic Edge by the U.S., Operation Nanook by Canada,
and the NATO exercises, so that we send a strategic message to
Russia that we are operating together, that we practise different
things, and certainly to invite them to these exercises so we can
build that trust and confidence.

Dr. James Fergusson: I would quickly add that Sweden and
Finland are irrelevant to the Arctic question—entirely irrelevant.
Sweden is about the Baltics. Finland is about neighbouring Russia
on the land. Neither of them has territory on the Arctic Ocean.
That's where their interests lie, not with the Arctic.

The Chair: On that note, I'm sure the ambassadors of Sweden
and Norway will be quite interested to know they are irrelevant to
the Arctic study.

Some hon. members: Oh, oh!
Dr. James Fergusson: I never said Norway.
The Chair: I want to thank each one of you for your participa‐

tion in this panel, occasionally provocative participation. Again, I

apologize for the time. We always seem to be running out of time. I
look forward to your continuing relationship with this committee.
Thank you for making yourselves available.

Colleagues, I'll allow our guests to leave, but I want to leave you
with a couple of questions.

Please inform the clerk and the chair, if you could, of what you
want to do on Thursday. We've received a couple of turndowns
from potential witnesses. DND are going to make themselves avail‐
able, but I can't fill up two hours at this point.

Do you have any suggestions?
The Clerk: They will come for two hours.
The Chair: I know they'll come for two hours. I'm not sure that's

a good use of committee time for two hours. If you have any sug‐
gestions along those lines, I'm interested.

Second of all—and this is for the people who are going to Wash‐
ington—DND has asked to send someone with us. It's been a prac‐
tice in the past. I want to get your thoughts before we say yes.

We distributed the Arctic security study last week. I don't know
whether there is any discussion on that, but I'm going to ask for
somebody to pass the budget on Thursday. I'm going to get your
feedback, hopefully before Thursday, on what to do on Thursday.

To those of you who are going on the Washington trip, could you
give me an idea of your reaction?

James, go ahead.
Mr. James Bezan: For the extra hour on Thursday, if you think

one hour is enough with DND, then I would suggest that you put
witnesses we have on our list for Arctic security in that second
hour.

The Chair: Do you want to switch to Arctic security for the sec‐
ond hour? Can we do that?

The Clerk: Absolutely.
Mr. James Bezan: It might be the easiest thing to do.
The Chair: Is that all right with everybody?

Some hon. members: Agreed.

The Chair: Okay, that works. Excellent.

Thank you.

The meeting is adjourned.
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privileges, powers, immunities and rights of the House of
Commons and its committees. For greater certainty, this per‐
mission does not affect the prohibition against impeaching or
questioning the proceedings of the House of Commons in
courts or otherwise. The House of Commons retains the right
and privilege to find users in contempt of Parliament if a re‐
production or use is not in accordance with this permission.

La présente permission ne porte pas atteinte aux privilèges,
pouvoirs, immunités et droits de la Chambre et de ses
comités. Il est entendu que cette permission ne touche pas
l’interdiction de contester ou de mettre en cause les délibéra‐
tions de la Chambre devant les tribunaux ou autrement. La
Chambre conserve le droit et le privilège de déclarer l’utilisa‐
teur coupable d’outrage au Parlement lorsque la reproduc‐
tion ou l’utilisation n’est pas conforme à la présente permis‐
sion.

Also available on the House of Commons website at the
following address: https://www.ourcommons.ca

Aussi disponible sur le site Web de la Chambre des
communes à l’adresse suivante :

https://www.noscommunes.ca


